
A Corporate Outsider's Duty to Disclose Under Rule
10b-5: Chiarella v. United States, 100 S. Ct. 1108 (1980).

Vincent Chiarella was an employee of a financial printer.'
Among the documents printed by his employer were five an-
nouncements of corporate takeover bids.2 Although the names of
the acquiring and target corporations were coded to preserve confi-
dentiality, Chiarella was able to deduce the true names from other
information contained in the documents.8 Chiarella then used this
information to purchase stock in the target corporations before the
takeover attempts were known to the target shareholders or to the
public.4 After the takeover attempts were announced, and the mar-
ket price of the target company's stock had increased, Chiarella
sold the stock at a profit. Over the course of fourteen months,
Chiarella realized a gain of more than $30,000 from the seventeen
transactions he made using the information.' After a Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) investigation of his trading ac-
tivities, Chiarella entered into a consent decree by which he agreed
to return his profits to the shareholders of the target corporations.
In January 1978 Chiarella was indicted on seventeen counts of vio-
lating section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (1934
Act)7 and SEC rule 10b-5.8 He was convicted on all counts. The

1. Chiarella v. United States, 100 S. Ct. 1108, 1112 (1980). Chiarella was a "markup
man" for Pandick Press, a Wall Street printing firm. Pandick handled the printing of vari-
ous business documents for investment bankers, corporations, and law firms. It frequently
prepared prospectuses, registration statements, offering circulars, and other documents used
to disclose material facts to the investing public as required by the federal securities laws.
Brief for the United States at 4, Chiarella v. United States, 100 S. Ct. 1108 (1980) [hereinaf-
ter cited as Brief].

2. Chiarella v. United States, 100 S. Ct. 1108, 1112 (1980).
3. Id. Chiarella did this by making note of facts contained in draft prospectuses such

as the market on which the stock was traded, the number of outstanding shares, par value,
and high and low bids for the preceding year, and then comparing this to information con-
tained in stock guide books he had obtained from his broker. Brief, supra note 1, at 7.

4. Chiarella v. United States, 100 S. Ct. 1108, 1112 (1980). Chiarella's purchases
amounted to a substantial portion of the total daily trading in those stocks, in certain in-
stances as much as one-half of the total volume of the company's stock traded that day.
Brief, supra note 1, at 9.

5. Chiarella v. United States, 100 S. Ct. 1108, 1112 (1980).
6. Id. at 1112-13.
7. 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (1976).
8. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (1980). Chiarella moved to dismiss the indictment on the
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Second Circuit affirmed. On appeal, the United States Supreme
Court held in Chiarella v. United States'0 that Chiarella's conduct
did not constitute a violation of section 10(b) and rule 10b-5, and
hence his conviction was improper.1'

I. DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS PRIOR TO CHIARELLA V. UNITED

STATES

Prior to the enactment of the securities laws, 2 the federal gov-
ernment had no statutory authority to deal with securities frauds
except by criminal prosecution under the federal mail fraud stat-
ute.' $ In the early 1930s, however, Congress responded to the stock
market crash of 1929 by enacting legislation aimed at compelling
disclosure of certain information to the investing public and
prohibiting misrepresentation and fraud in securities transactions.
To promote and restore investor confidence," the acts established
an elaborate system of registration and reporting requirements and
antifraud provisions. One of the antifraud provisions Congress in-
cluded in the Securities Act of 1933 (1933 Act) was section 17(a).' 8

grounds that the SEC had not charged a crime under § 10(b) or rule lOb-5. Chiarella argued
that he was not an insider of the target corporation and therefore did not have a fiduciary
relationship to the target shareholders. United States v. Chiarella, 450 F. Supp. 95, 96
(S.D.N.Y.), afl'd, 588 F.2d 1358 (2d Cir. 1978), rev'd, 100 S. Ct. 1108 (1980). The motion was
unsuccessful in the district court. Id. at 97.

9. United States v. Chiarella, 588 F.2d 1358 (2d Cir. 1978), rev'd, 100 S. Ct. 1108
(1980). The court of appeals held that Chiarella's conversion of information provided in
confidence by the acquiring corporations, and his use of that information to purchase securi-
ties, operated as fraud on the acquiring corporations and on the persons who sold him the
securities. Id. at 1368.

10. 100 S. Ct. 1108 (1980).
11. Id. at 1113.
12. Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77a-77aa (1976); Securities Exchange Act of

1934, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78a-78kk (1976).
13. 3 L. Loss, SECURTIEs REGULATION 1421 (2d ed. 1961).
14. See, e.g., H.R. REP. No. 1383, 73d Cong., 2d Sess. 5 (1934) ("If investor confidence

is to come back, to the benefit of exchanges and corporations alike, the law must advance").
15. 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a) (1976). Section 17(a) provides:

It shall be unlawful for any person in the offer or sale of any securities by the
use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate
commerce or by the use of the mails, directly or indirectly -

(1) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, or
(2) To obtain money or property by means of any untrue statement of a

material fact or any omission to state a material fact necessary in order to make
the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading, or

(3) To engage in any transaction, practice, or course of business which oper-
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That section is violated if one is fraudulent in the "sale" or "offer"
of securities. The section, however, does not prohibit a buyer from
perpetrating fraud upon a seller. Section 10(b) of the 1934 Act pro-
hibits fraud "in connection with the purchase or sale of any secur-
ity."" In 1942, the SEC promulgated rule 10b-51 pursuant to sec-
tion 10(b) and applied the language of section 17(a) to the
purchase as well as the sale of securities.

Although lies and half-truths were prohibited in securities
transactions under common law, purchasers and sellers of securi-
ties generally had no duty to disclose information.1 8 Section 10(b)
and rule 10b-5, however, were intended to prohibit misleading or
deceptive activities, whether or not they were precisely and techni-
cally sufficient to sustain a common law action for fraud and de-
ceit.19 Clause (b) of rule 10b-5 prohibits falsehoods and half-truths
in securities transactions. Clauses (a) and (c) prohibit any fraudu-
lent "device," "scheme," "artifice," "act," "practice," or "course of
business" in securities sales and purchases. The rule does not state
specifically whether silence may constitute fraud, 0 but the courts

ates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser.
Id.

16. 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (1976). Section 10(b) provides:
It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, .

(b) To use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security
registered on a national securities exchange or any security not so registered, any
manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of such rules and
regulations as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the
public interest or for the protection of investors.

Id.
17. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (1980). Rule 10b-5 provides:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any facility
of any national securities exchange,

(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,
(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a

material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, in connection with the
purchase or sale of any security.

Id.
18. W. PRossER, HANDBOOK OF THE LAw OF TORTS § 106 (4th ed. 1971).
19. 3 L. Loss, supra note 13, at 1435.
20. One commentator discussing why the antifraud provisions should compel disclo-

sure reasoned:
In the light of the continuous creation of a particular impression of corporate
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and the Commission have held that it may.2 '
Exactly when disclosure is required by rule 10b-5 to avoid

fraudulent silence has been a difficult and much litigated issue.
The cases addressing this issue can be divided into types based
upon the facts they present. The first division can be made on the
basis of the status of the allegedly fraudulent trader-that is,
whether the trader is an insider of the corporation whose stock was
traded or an outsider. A second division can be made on the basis
of whether the information that was not disclosed was inside infor-
mation or market information. Inside information is that which
concerns the earnings and assets of the corporation whose securi-
ties are being traded. Market information refers to information
about events or circumstances that affect the market for a com-
pany's securities, but not its assets or earning power."' The types
of fact patterns which the courts and the Commission have consid-
ered include insiders trading on inside information, outsiders trad-
ing on inside information, and outsiders trading on market
information.

Not long after the promulgation of rule 10b-5, the courts and
the Commission were considering cases of insiders trading on in-
side information. An early case applying the duty to disclose to
officers and directors of a corporation was Kardon v. National
Gypsum Co.' s Western Board & Paper Co. was a closely held cor-
poration, and the two plaintiffs and the two defendants involved in
Kardon owned all the capital stock of the corporation. 4 In their
capacity as officers and directors of the corporation, the defendants

affairs by the corporation, if events occur that make that previously created im-
pression materially misleading, failure to communicate the occurrence of those
events may plausibly be taken to be a representation. . . that all previous disclo-
sures remain accurate and complete.

Brudney, Insiders, Outsiders, and Informational Advantages Under the Federal Securities
Laws, 93 HARv. L. REv. 322, 327 (1979).

21. Courts have not clearly stated which clause of rule 10b-5 requires this disclosure.
In SEC v. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co., 401 F.2d 833, 852 (2d Cir. 1968), cert. denied, 394 U.S.
976 (1969), the court suggested it was clause (c). In Cady, Roberts & Co., 40 S.E.C. 907, 913
(1961), the Commission indicated that clause (c) was violated and did not decide the scope
of clauses (a) and (b).

22. See 100 S. Ct. at 1121 (Burger, C.J., dissenting) (citing Fleischer, Mundheim &
Murphey, An Initial Inquiry into the Responsibility to Disclose Market Information, 121
U. PA. L. Rgv. 798, 799 (1973)).

23. 73 F. Supp. 798 (E.D. Pa. 1947).
24. Id. at 800.
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entered into a contract to sell the plant and equipment of Western
to National Gypsum.25 Subsequently, the defendants purchased all
of the stock of the plaintiffs who were unaware of the contract for
sale.26 The court held that the defendants violated rule 10b-5 by
purchasing the stock of the corporation from others and failing to
disclose material information they acquired by reason of their posi-
tion in the corporation.27 The court based the duty to disclose
upon principles governing fiduciary relationships.28

Four years later, the duty to disclose was expanded to apply to
majority shareholders. In Speed v. Transamerica Corp.2 9 the ma-
jority shareholder purchased stock from the minority shareholders
without disclosing a contemplated liquidation for purposes of cap-
turing inventory appreciation." The court found a violation of rule
10b-58 ' and held that it was unlawful for an insider to purchase
stock of minority shareholders without disclosing material facts af-
fecting the value of the shares.8 2 The court reasoned that the pur-
pose of the duty to disclose was to prevent the corporate insider
from using his position to take unfair advantage of the minority
shareholders by providing some degree of equalization of bargain-
ing position."

The category of insiders required to disclose was expanded to
include employees without executive titles in the Second Circuit
case of SEC v. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co." Texas Gulf Sulphur made
an extraordinary mineral discovery in 1964.85 Before information
concerning the discovery was released to the public, certain direc-
tors, officers, and employees with knowledge of the favorable infor-

25. Id.
26. Id. at 801.
27. Id. at 800.
28. Id. at 803.
29. 99 F. Supp. 808 (D. Del. 1951). The Commission had addressed this issue earlier in

Ward LaFrance Truck Corp., 13 S.E.C. 373, 381 (1943), and held nondisclosure constituted
a violation of rule 10b-5.

30. 99 F. Supp. at 812.
31. Id. at 828.
32. Id. The majority stockholder urged that his only duty was to refrain from misrep-

resentation. The court stated that "an implied misrepresentation is just as fraudulent as an
express one." Id. at 829.

33. Id. The court also stated that Congress did not intend to limit application of the
Act to transactions on the exchanges and in the organized over-the-counter markets. Id. at
830.

34. 401 F.2d 833 (2d Cir. 1968), cert. denied, 394 U.S. 976 (1969).
35. Id. at 846.
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mation purchased shares of its stock on the open market." The
employees included geologists and engineers involved in the
surveys of the land. 1 The court found that the parties violated
rule 10b-5 by trading without disclosure.8 8 The court also found
certain of the defendants violated rule 10b-5 by "tipping" other
persons who also made trades.8 The court stated that rule 10b-5 is
based on the expectation of relatively equal access to information
among all investors.40

Beyond the traditional insider cases, the courts and the Com-
mission have also considered cases of outsiders trading on inside
information. The courts often insinuate that these are also insider
cases. An examination of the facts, however, reveals that those per-
sons making the trade without disclosure are not insiders at all,
but persons who have received inside information from insiders.

The landmark case in this area is a Commission decision,
Cady, Roberts & Co.4 1 In Cady, Roberts, the SEC took disciplinary
action against a partner of a broker-dealer firm.42 The partner re-
ceived information of a dividend reduction from an associate in the
brokerage firm." The associate was a director of the company issu-
ing the stock involved." Knowing the information he had received
had not yet been made public, the partner nevertheless executed
sell orders for his discretionary accounts.45 The Commission found
that the partner had the same responsibilities as a traditional in-

36. Id. at 841.
37. Id. at 843.
38. Id. at 852.
39. Id.
40. Id. at 848. The court stated:
The insiders here were not trading on an equal footing with the outside investors.
They alone were in a position to evaluate the probability and magnitude of what
seemed from the outset to be a major ore strike; they alone could invest safely
.... Such inequities based upon unequal access to knowledge should not be
shrugged off as inevitable in our way or life, or, in view of the congressional con-
cern in the area, remain uncorrected.

Id. at 852. This language is quite different from that used in the earlier insider cases to
rationalize disclosure requirements. The court was not relying upon fiduciary concepts or
"special facts," but was formulating what might be called an "equality of access to informa-
tion" theory.

41. 40 S.E.C. 907 (1961).
42. Id. at 908.
43. Id. at 909.
44. Id.
45. Id.
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sider to disclose the information before trading; thus, failure by
the partner to disclose violated rule 10b-5."I The Commission an-
nounced a new analytical framework from which to approach the
nondisclosure issue:

[T]he obligation [to disclose] rests on two principle elements;
first, the existence of a relationship giving access, directly or in-
directly, to information intended to be available only for a corpo-
rate purpose and not for the personal benefit of anyone, and sec-
ond, the inherent unfairness involved where a party takes
advantage of such information knowing it is unavailable to those
with whom he is dealing.4 7

The broker argued that, under common law theory, theie was no
duty on an insider to disclose to a nonshareholder-purchaser be-
cause there was no fiduciary relationship between the parties. 48

The Commission rejected this approach as too narrow and as one
which failed to protect the public from the misuse of special in-
formation. 49 The Commission stated that the antifraud provisions
are broader than common law theories based on fiduciary
relationships.5"

The Cady, Roberts reasoning was followed by the Second Cir-
cuit in its Texas Gulf Sulphur decision. Although tippees traded
on the material nonpublic information in Texas Gulf Sulphur, the
Commission did not name the tippees as defendants. 1 The court,
therefore, did not have to resolve the question of a tippee's duty to
disclose. The court did indicate in dictum that the conduct of the
tippees could be equally as reprehensible as that of the insiders.2
The court's rationale in Texas Gulf Sulphur could have applied
equally well to outsiders with inside information, and at one point
the court specifically stated that the rule applied to anyone in pos-
session of material inside information and not just to those strictly

46. Id. at 912.
47. Id. The Commission also stated that the three groups traditionally obligated to

disclose-officers, directors, and controlling shareholders-do not exhaust the class of per-
sons upon whom the obligation will rest. Id.

48. Id. at 913.
49. Id.
50. Id. at 913-14.
51. 401 F.2d at 852-53.
52. Id. at 853.

[Vol. 12:540546
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termed insiders."
Soon after Texas Gulf Sulphur, there was a trilogy of cases,

all of which arose from the same sequence of events. 4 In 1966,
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc. was the prospective
managing underwriter of a proposed Douglas Aircraft Co. deben-
ture offering." In connection with the prospective underwriting,
Merrill Lynch was advised of certain adverse material inside infor-
mation concerning Douglas' earnings.6 Before the information was
made public, Merrill Lynch disclosed it to certain of its customers,
including Investors Management Co., and other institutional inves-
tors. 7 These customers then sold Douglas stock and Merrill Lynch
received compensation in the form of commissions." The SEC
brought administrative proceedings against Merrill Lynch alleging
violation of the antifraud provisions, including rule 10b-5." In
1968, the Commission in Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith,
Inc." found that the actions of Merrill Lynch violated rule 10b-5."
The Commission stated that the principles of Cady, Roberts and
Texas Gulf Sulphur prohibited the disclosure of such information
by Merrill Lynch to favored customers who might sell their hold-
ings before appropriate public disclosure and take advantage of the
market price before the expectable decline." Three years after the
Commission found Merrill Lynch in violation of rule 10b-5, it is-
sued an opinion finding Investors Management Co. and the other

53. Id. at 848. The court formulated what is known as the "disclose or refrain rule."
This rule requires anyone in possession of material inside information to disclose it to the
public or refrain from trading in the securities concerned if disclosure would violate a corpo-
rate confidence. Id.

54. Shapiro v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 495 F.2d 228 (2d Cir.
1974); Investors Management, Inc., 44 S.E.C. 633 (1971); Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith, Inc., 43 S.E.C. 933 (1968).

55. Shapiro v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 495 F.2d 228 (2d Cir.
1974).

56. Id. at 232.
57. Id.
58. Id.
59. Id. at 233.
60. 43 S.E.C. 933 (1968).
61. Id. at 937. The Commission said the advance selective disclosure constituted an

"act, practice or course of business which operated or would operate as fraud or deceit." Id.
Thus, the Commission was relying upon clause (c) as the basis for the disclosure
requirement.

62. Id.
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tippees also in violation.65 The Commission stated that one who
obtains possession of material, nonpublic corporate information,
with reason to know that it emanates from a corporate source, and
that places him in a position superior to other investors, has a duty
to disclose or refrain from trading." The language used by the
Commission did not require any special relationship between the
outsider tippee and the corporate source of the information. Thus,
it varied slightly from the formulation the Commission introduced
in Cady, Roberts. Finally, in 1974, the Second Circuit considered
the conduct of Merrill Lynch and its tippees in Shapiro v. Merrill
Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc.s6 This was a civil action to
recover damages sustained as a result of the trading in Douglas
shares. 66 The court stated that the same strong public policy con-
siderations regarding equal access to information asserted in Texas
Gulf Sulphur applied to this case. 7 It held the tippers and the
tippees in violation of rule 10b-6 for failing to follow the "disclose
or refrain rule. '6 8

Chiarella is not the first case to consider the duty of an out-
sider trading on market information. Most of the previous cases
also involved corporate acquisitions. Two months after its Texas
Gulf Sulphur decision, the Second Circuit decided General Time
Corp. v. Talley Industries, Inc.s" Talley Industries acquired shares
of General Time Corporation on the open market without disclos-
ing its plan for a merger with General Time to the shareholders. 0

General Time alleged that Talley had a duty to disclose this infor-
mation to the shareholders because merger terms might be more

63. Investors Management, Inc., 44 S.E.C. 633, 634 (1971).
64. Id. at 644. The Commission discussed the elements of materiality and knowledge.

The Commission stated that "among the factors to be considered in determining whether
information is material ... are the degree of its specificity, the extent to which it differs
from information previously publicly disseminated, and its reliability in light of its nature
and source and the circumstances under which it was received." Id. at 642. As to the ele-
ment of knowledge, the Commission stated that "the standard as to the requisite knowledge
[may] be satisfied by proof that the recipient had reason to know of the non-public charac-
ter of the information, and that it not be necessary to establish actual knowledge of that
fact or . ..of a breach of a fiduciary duty." Id. at 644.

65. 495 F.2d 228 (2d Cir. 1974).
66. Id. at 231.
67. Id. at 236.
68. Id. at 238.
69. 403 F.2d 159 (2d Cir. 1968), cert. denied, 393 U.S. 1026 (1969).
70. Id. at 164.

[Vol. 12:540548
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favorable than the price paid for the shares.7' The court held that
there was no duty to disclose and based its conclusion on the fact
that the buyer was not an insider and had no fiduciary relationship
to the prospective sellers.7' The court recognized that an obligation
to disclose under these circumstances might raise the sellers' de-
mands and consequently abort the acquisition.7 3 The court also
stated that Congress' passage of the Williams Act, 4 which requires
disclosure of acquisition plans under certain circumstances, was an
indication that no obligation previously existed.75 Although the
language of the court in General Time implied that outsiders trad-
ing on market information did not come within the scope of rule
10b-5, a year later the court acknowledged that the question was
still open. 6

In Crane Co. v. Westinghouse Air Brake Co.," Crane and
American Standard competed with one another to acquire West-
inghouse Air Brake. s Crane alleged that American Standard
manipulated the price of the target company's stock by purchasing
large blocks of the stock near Crane's tender price." As a result,
Crane's tender offer was unsuccessful.8" The court held that Ameri-
can Standard's manipulation and its failure to disclose its manipu-
lation to target shareholders violated rule 10b-5 and defrauded
Crane.8' The court relied upon the Cady, Roberts - Texas Gulf
Sulphur formulation, stating that it considered American Stan-
dard to be an insider because it communicated its transactions in
the target's stock to the target company management.82

71. Id.
72. Id.
73. Id.
74. 15 U.S.C. § 78k(a)(1) (1976).
75. 403 F.2d at 164-65.
76. SEC v. Great Am. Indus., Inc., 407 F.2d 453 (2d Cir. 1968), cert. denied, 395 U.S.

920 (1969). The court said, "[T]o read Rule 10b-5 as placing an affirmative duty of disclo-
sure on persons who in contrast to 'insiders' or broker-dealers did not occupy a special rela-
tionship to a seller or buyer of securities, would be occupying new ground and would require
most careful consideration." Id. at 460.

77. 419 F.2d 787 (2d Cir. 1969), cert. denied, 400 U.S. 822 (1970).
78. Id. at 790-91.
79. Id. at 792.
80. Id.
81. Id. at 795-96.
82. Id. It seems a strained interpretation to consider American Standard an insider.

American Standard was an outsider trading on market information of which the manage-
ment of the target firm, but not its shareholders, was aware.
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In 1974, the Second Circuit considered yet another merger
case. In SEC v. Shapiro,as a consulting firm was assisting an ac-
quiring corporation in its efforts to merge with a target corpora-
tion. 4 Aware of the impending merger, the consultants purchased
shares in the target corporation for themselves without disclosing
the merger information to the target shareholders.8 5 The consul-
tants subsequently sold the shares at a large profit after public an-
nouncement of the merger plan.86 The court of appeals found that
the trades by the consultants on material nonpublic information
violated rule lOb-5. 7 At several places in the opinion the court re-
ferred to the information as inside information." However, the in-
formation which the court found to be material included knowl-
edge that the target corporation reacted favorably to the merger
proposal.89

Two years prior to Shapiro, the United States Supreme Court
rendered its opinion in Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United States,'0

also a case of an outsider failing to disclose market information. In
Affiliated Ute Citizens, a bank agreed to act as a transfer agent for
the Ute Development Corporation (UDC).' 1 After the bank was re-
tained by UDC, the attorney for UDC wrote the bank and re-
quested that the bank discourage the sale of UDC stock by its In-
dian owners and stress to the Indians that the value of the stock
was undeterminable." Two bank employees bought shares of stock
from the Indians and resold it in a non-Indian market at a much

83. 494 F.2d 1301 (2d Cir. 1974).
84. Id. at 1303-04.
85. Id. at 1304-05.
86. Id. at 1305. Although the merger eventually failed to go through, the consultants

sold the shares when the price was still up. Id. This prompted the consultants to argue that
the information upon which the purchases were based was not material because the possibil-
ity of merger was so remote. Id. The court rejected this argument and found the information
material based upon the timing of the purchase, the fact that the consultants had not previ-
ously held any stock of the target company, and the fact that they, as sophisticated inves-
tors with knowledge of the merger, would purchase the stock. Id. at 1307.

87. Id.
88. See, e.g., id.
89. Information concerning a potential merger which will presumably affect the price

of the target company's stock is market information.
90. 406 U.S. 128 (1972).
91. Id. at 145.
92. Id. at 145-46. The bank acknowledged that it would see that the transfers were

proper. Id. at 152.
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higher price.93 The Indians were not told of the non-Indian mar-
ket," and they alleged that the bank employees owed them a duty
to disclose the existence of the other market.95 The Court held that
the employees' acts violated rule 10b-5 because they devised a plan
and induced the holders to sell without disclosing facts that could
reasonably have influenced the holders' decisions.9 6 The Court
based its decision upon a legislative philosophy which viewed full
disclosure as a means to achieve a high standard of business ethics
in the securities industry.9 7 The Court stated that the employees
owed a duty to disclose because they acted as market makers and
not merely transfer agents."

The SEC has also applied rule 10b-5 to outsiders trading on
market information. Blyth & Co. 9' involved a broker-dealer who
transacted business as a dealer in United States government secur-
ities.100 Traders in the broker-dealer's bond department received
information from a Federal Reserve Bank employee regarding the
terms of the new offerings.101 Prior to public announcement of the
new terms, the traders effected transactions in outstanding govern-
ment securities for the broker-dealer's account. 02 The Commission
found that the broker-dealer violated rule 10b-5 and stated that
because it was clear that the traders knew the information was not
to be released until a predetermined date, the traders had a duty
to refrain from trading until public disclosure. l03

The Commission has also brought enforcement proceedings
under rule 10b-5 when confidential market information concerning
forthcoming corporate acquisitions is misappropriated and used in
the public securities market,'04 or when such information is used

93. Id. at 147.
94. Id. at 153.
95. Id. at 140.
96. Id. at 153.
97. Id. at 151.
98. Id. at 152. The Court stated that the record showed that the two employees en-

couraged a market for the UDC shares by soliciting and accepting standing orders from non-
Indians, and accepting commissions and gratuities from the expectant buyers. Id.

99. 43 S.E.C. 1037 (1969).
100. Id. at 1038.
101. Id. at 1039.
102. Id.
103. Id. at 1040.
104. See, e.g., SEC v. Manderano, [1978 Transfer Binder] FEn. SEC. L. REP. (CCH)

1 96,357 (D.N.J. 1978); SEC v. Primar Typographers, Inc., [1976-1977 Transfer Binder]
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by executives of the acquiring companies who purchased shares of
target company stock prior to public disclosure of the tender
offer.

10 5

II. CHIARELLA V. UNITED STATES

In Chiarella v. United States,106 the United States Supreme
Court considered the question of whether a person who learns from
the confidential documents of one corporation that it is planning
an attempt to secure control of a second corporation violates sec-
tion 10(b) and rule 10b-5 if he fails to disclose the impending take-
over before trading in the target company's securities.1 0

7 The
Court's rather narrow holding in the case is that a duty to disclose
does not arise from the mere possession of nonpublic market infor-
mation.0 8 The rationale of the Court swept much more broadly,
however, and intimated that unless a relationship of trust and con-
fidence exists between the parties to the transaction, section 10(b)
and rule 10b-5 do not place a duty to disclose upon a corporate
outsider possessing material nonpublic information.109

In arriving at its conclusion, the Court examined the statute
and its legislative history, as well as prior administrative and judi-
cial interpretations. The Court found, however, that neither the
legislative history nor the statute itself affords specific guidance on
the issue. " ° Thus, the Court based its reasoning primarily on prior
case law.

The Court began by examining the Commission decision in
Cady, Roberts. The Court stated that in Cady, Roberts the Com-
mission recognized a relationship of trust and confidence between
the shareholders of a corporation and those insiders who have ob-
tained confidential information by reason of their position with

FED. SEC. L. REP. (CCH) 95,734 (S.D.N.Y. 1976); SEC v. Ayoub, [1975-1976 Transfer
Binder] FED. SEC. L. REP. (CCH) 1 95,567 (S.D.N.Y. 1976); SEC v. Sorg Printing Co., [1974-
1975 Transfer Binder] FED. SEC. L. REP. (CCH) 1 94,767 (S.D.N.Y. 1974).

105. See, e.g., SEC v. Stone, SEC Litigation Release No. 8527 (S.D.N.Y. 1978); SEC v.
Healy, SEC Litigation Release No. 6589 (S.D.N.Y. 1974); SEC v. Rosenberg, [1974-1975
Transfer Binder] FED. SEC. L. REP. (CCH) 94,766 (S.D.N.Y. 1974).

106. 100 S. Ct. 1108 (1980).
107. Id. at 1112.
108. Id. at 1118.
109. Id. at 1114-17.
110. Id. at 1113.
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that corporation."' This was not a novel approach, noted the
Court, for at common law the duty to disclose arises when one
party has information that the other party is entitled to know be-
cause of a fiduciary relationship between them.11 2 The Court stated
that the federal court decisions have held in accordance with the
common-law rule and required such a relationship.'"

The Court noted that the information upon which Chiarella
relied did not concern the earning power or operations of the tar-
get company, but only the plans of the acquiring company." 4 Use
of the information, the Court stated, could not constitute a fraud
under section 10(b) because both the trial court and the Second
Circuit failed to "identify a relationship between the Petitioner
[Chiarella] and the sellers that could give rise to a duty."" 3 The
Court pointed out that the Second Circuit had based its decision
on the premise that federal securities laws dictate that there must
be equal access to information so that investment decisions can be
carried out in a reasonable and intelligent manner." 6 This reason-
ing, the Court stated, emphasized the fact that because the mate-
rial information was not available to the general public, its use by
Chiarella was fraudulent because it gave him an "unfair advantage
over less informed buyers and sellers."1 7 The Court, however, dis-
carded the reasoning and rule of the Second Circuit, noting that
not every instance of financial unfairness constitutes fraud under
section 10(b) and that there was no specific duty to disclose in
Chiarella."8 The Court explained that because Chiarella had no
prior dealings with the sellers and was a mere stranger to them, no
duty could arise between them." 9 There can be no generalized
duty to disclose, the Court stated, because Congress did not intend
to establish a general duty among all participants in the market
who possess material nonpublic information.2 0 Although the Court
recognized that section 10(b) is a catch-all provision, it emphasized

111. Id. at 1114.
112. Id.
113. Id. at 1115.
114. Id. at 1116.
115. Id.
116. Id.
117. Id.
118. Id.
119. Id. at 1117.
120. Id.
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that "what it catches must be fraud.' ' 2 The Court stated that
nondisclo3ure of information does not constitute fraud unless there
is a duty to speak. Thus, the Court concluded that a duty to dis-
close under section 10(b) does not arise from the mere possession
of nonpublic market information. 22

Significantly, however, the Court refused to address whether
Chiarella breached a duty to the acquiring corporation when he
utilized the information from the tender offer bids. This matter
was not submitted to the jury, the Court noted, and therefore, the
Court would not speculate on whether such a duty existed and
whether a breach of such a duty violated section 10(b). 2

8 However,
Justice Stevens in a concurring opinion, stated that if it were ar-
gued that Chiarella breached a duty to the acquiring corporation,
the acquiring corporation would not be able to recover damages
from him because it was neither the purchaser nor the seller of the
stock as required for recovery by the Court in Blue Chip Stamps v.
Manor Drug Stores.24

Three Justices dissented from the opinion of the Court. In a
separate opinion, Chief Justice Burger stated that a person who
misappropriates nonpublic information should have an absolute
duty to disclose. 25 The Chief Justice opined that the cases, the
legislative history, and the philosophy of the antifraud provisions
were consistent with his formulation of the rule.2 6 Therefore, the
Chief Justice would have found Chiarella in violation of section
10(b) and rule 10b-5 for failing to disclose to the sellers of the tar-
get company stock his knowledge of the forthcoming tender
offer.

27

Justices Blackmun and Marshall also filed a dissent, and con-
cluded that persons having access to confidential information that
is not legally available to others should be prohibited by section

121. Id. at 1118.
122. Id.
123. Id.
124. Id. at 1120 (Stevens, J., concurring) (citing Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug

Stores, 421 U.S. 723 (1975)).
125. 100 S. Ct. at 1121. Justice Brennan was in accord with the Chief Justice's formu-

lation of the rule; however, he concurred in the opinion of the majority because he felt the
misappropriation formula was not submitted to the jury. Id. at 1120 (Brennan, J.,
concurring).

126. Id. at 1121.
127. Id. at 1123.
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10(b) and rule 10b-5 from engaging in schemes to exploit their
structural informational advantage through trading in affected se-
curities. 2 8 The Justices stated that under their view, misappropri-
ation is not necessary to invoke the rule.12 9

The language, history, and policy of section 10(b) and rule
10b-5 do not limit their coverage to corporate insiders or to corpo-
rate information, and do not indicate that a different application
should be given to outsiders or to market information. In addition,
prior decisions do not compel the Court to make any distinction or
limitation. Although in the past there has been a more definitive
treatment of cases involving insiders or inside information, prior
decisions of the courts and the Commission do not require applica-
tion of the principles of disclosure to cases involving "a special re-
lationship of trust and confidence between the parties." '

The language of section 10(b) is extremely broad. It applies to
"any person" and prohibits in the purchase or sale of "any secur-
ity" the use of "any manipulative or deceptive device or contri-
vance" in contravention of Commission rules. Likewise, rule 10b-5
is worded broadly. It forbids "any person" to use "any device,
scheme or artifice to defraud," or to make "any untrue statement"
or to engage in "any act, practice, or course of business" which
would defraud a person in connection with a securities transaction.
The Supreme Court examined this language in Affiliated Ute Citi-
zens and said, "These proscriptions, by statute and rule, are broad
and by repeated use of the word 'any,' are obviously meant to be
inclusive." ' It would seem, therefore, that although the statute
and rule do not give specific guidance for resolution of cases such
as Chiarella, the language used by Congress and the Commission
justifies a broad application and does not limit them to frauds by
"insiders," "tippees" or those in a "special relationship."

The history of section 10(b) also supports a broad application.
As noted by the Chief Justice,182 the antifraud provisions were
designed "to assure that dealing in securities is fair and without

128. Id. at 1126.
129. Id. at 1123.
130. This language used by the Court could be more simply stated as a fiduciary

relationship.
131. Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 151 (1972).
132. 100 S. Ct. at 1121 (Burger, C.J., dissenting).
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undue preferences or advantages among investors."'' s Although
there is no explanation in the legislative history of exactly what
section 10(b) was intended to proscribe, Thomas G. Corcoran, a
spokesman for the drafters of the statute, explained that section
10(b) was to be a "catch-all clause." In his words, it was like say-
ing, "Thou shalt not devise any other cunning devices."'" The role
of section 10(b) as a "catch-all" was recognized by the Supreme
Court in Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder.3 5 Because of its remedial
nature, it was essential that the statute be written broadly to re-
tain its effectiveness. Effective regulation required that the statute
confer "elastic powers"' 3 upon the SEC. Section 10(b) was specifi-
cally "aimed at those manipulative and deceptive practices which
have been demonstrated to fulfill no useful function ' 13 7 whatever
form those practices might take. Thus, the history and policy of
the provisions would support the finding of a violation under the
facts of Chiarefla. Chiarella's transactions were made on the basis
of misappropriated nonpublic information which clearly gave him
an "undue advantage." His conduct served no "useful function" in
the market. In fact, conduct such as Chiarella's might deter the
honest investor from supplying needed capital for fear of being de-
prived of profits by another trader with a stolen informational ad-
vantage. As the Supreme Court has noted, "[T]he 1934 Act and its
companion legislative enactments embrace a 'fundamental purpose
. ..to substitute a philosophy of full disclosure for the philosophy
of caveat emptor.' ""I

Although a broad general rule has not been formulated in
prior 10b-5 decisions, the decisions have steadily expanded the
duty to disclose from its common-law origins. The major insider
cases do not foreclose application of rule 10b-5 to cases like
Chiarella. The rationale of insider cases developed from a fiduciary
concept, as in Kardon,"' to a principle of equal access to informa-

133. H.R. CONF. REP. No. 229, 94th Cong., 1st Sess. 91, reprinted in [1975] U.S. CODE
CONG. & AD. NEws 321, 323.

134. Hearings on H.R. 7852 and H.R. 8720 Before the House Comm. on Interstate
and Foreign Commerce, 73d Cong., 2d Sess. 115 (1934).

135. 425 U.S. 185, 206 (1976).
136. S. REP. No. 792, 73d Cong., 2d Sess. 6 (1934).
137. Id.
138. Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 151 (1972) (quoting SEC v.

Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U.S. 180, 186 (1963)).
139. Kardon v. National Gypsum Co., 73 F. Supp. 798, 803 (E.D. Pa. 1947).
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tion as in Texas Gulf Sulphur.140 The two-part rationale of Cady,
Roberts that was later approved in Texas Gulf Sulphur does not
require the trader to be an insider or the information to be inside
information. All that was required by that formulation was "a rela-
tionship giving access, directly or indirectly, to information in-
tended to be available only for a corporate purpose. ' 141 Chiarella's
relationship with the acquiring corporation gave him access to in-
formation that was at that time intended for a corporate purpose
only. The second prong of the Cady, Roberts - Texas Gulf Sulphur
rationale was a consideration of the inherent unfairness that might
result from a trader taking advantage of such information when
the other party is unaware of the information. Chiarella's advan-
tage seems very unfair especially in light of the fact that he misap-
propriated the information. The Court emphasized that the prior
cases found violations of section 10(b) and rule 10b-5 when corpo-
rate insiders used undisclosed inside information for their own
benefit.1 42 None of these cases, however, stated that its logic is ap-
plicable only under such circumstances. In fact, some have con-
tained specific language to the effect that those traditionally
thought of as insiders are not the only ones required to disclose or
refrain.

14 3

When the Supreme Court and the lower federal courts consid-
ered application of rule 10b-5 to market information frauds in
prior cases, their opinions did not limit use of the rule to facts
where a "special relationship of trust and confidence existed be-
tween the parties." Although the buyers in Affiliated Ute Citizens
had assumed special duties to the Indian sellers, the Court did not
state that a special relationship between the parties was an inte-
gral element of rule 10b-5 fraud.144 In the Second Circuit case of

140. See note 40 supra.
141. Cady, Roberts & Co., 40 S.E.C. 907 (1961). In its discussion of Cady, Roberts, the

Supreme Court confines the two-prong rationale to insiders and inside information. The
Commission opinion did not make this distinction, although a reading of the majority opin-
ion in Chiarella would suggest that it did. 100 S. Ct. at 1114.

142. 100 S. Ct. at 1115.
143. See, e.g., SEC v. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co., 401 F.2d 833, 848 (2d Cir. 1968); Cady,

Roberts & Co., 40 S.E.C. 907, 912 (1961). In these two cases, the Second Circuit and the
Commission have said disclosure requirements are not limited to traditional insiders.

144. At one point the Court stated that "if the two men and the employer bank had
functioned merely as a transfer agent, there would have been no duty of disclosure here."
Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 152 (1972). The Court does not say
anything about a fiduciary relationship being required, however. In fact, Justice Blackmun,
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SEC v. Shapiro,145 the facts were very much like those in Chiarel-
Ia. 46 The court held that the purchasers of the stock were in viola-
tion of section 10(b) and rule 10b-5 for misuse of material nonpub-
lic information without relying upon any relationship between the
purchasers and the target company shareholders. 147 SEC decisions
have consistently given broad application to section 10(b) and rule
10b-5. The Commission's opinion in Blyth & Co.148 found liability
for nondisclosure of market information where there was no fiduci-
ary-type relationship between the buyer and sellers. 149

In adopting the approach that it did, perhaps the Court was
hoping to prevent the extension of 10b-5 liability to regular and
accepted trading practices. 150 The Court should not have im-
munized transactions such as Chiarella's to protect bona fide
economic activity that might present a similar fact pattern in the
future, but which would undoubtedly also present different ques-
tions of fact and public policy. An extrapolation from a literal
reading of the Second Circuit rule might suggest that performance
of legitimate market activities could result in liability. 15 1 However,
a court could distinguish this type of activity because it does fulfill
a "useful function" in the market, and is therefore not meant to be
prohibited by the antifraud provisions. The Court did not have to
accept a general rule such as that presented by the Second Circuit
to hold Chiarella's conduct in violation of the rule. Chief Justice

the author of the majority opinion in Affiliated Ute Citizens, dissenting in Chiarella, sug-
gests that the Court gives that case an "unduly narrow interpretation." 100 S. Ct. at 1126
(Blackmun, J., dissenting).

145. 494 F.2d 1301 (2d Cir. 1974). See notes 83-88 supra, and accompanying text.
146. Both cases involved misappropriation of information concerning a corporate ac-

quisition by an individual who had been entrusted with the information in connection with
his employment by the acquiring corporation.

147. 494 F.2d at 1307.
148. 43 S.E.C. 1037 (1969). See notes 99-103 supra, and accompanying text.
149. Id. at 1040.
150. See Brief for the Petitioner at 34, Chiarella v. United States, 100 S. Ct. 1108

(1980), in which petitioner urged upon the Court that
the Second Circuit's replacement of the traditional "corporate insider" test with
its new "market insider" test portends a licentious extension of rule 10b-5 liability
to regular and accepted trading activities by security industry employees. Thus,
trading without disclosure by specialists, block positioners, floor traders, arbi-
trageurs and risk arbitrageurs-all of whom have "regular access to information"
-would be subject to rule 10b-5 liability.

151. The Second Circuit pointed out, "[W]e are not to be understood as holding that
no one may trade on nonpublic market information without incurring a duty to disclose."
United States v. Chiarella, 588 F.2d 1358, 1366 (2d Cir. 1978).
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Burger presented a well-reasoned rule tailored to the facts of
Chiarella.

1 5 2

The requirement by the Court of a special relationship of trust
and confidence between the parties to the transaction before the
duty to disclose will arise leads to absurd results. Printers like
Chiarella may misappropriate and trade on nonpublic information
submitted to them for printing by the acquiring corporation. There
will be no violation since no fiduciary relationship exists between
the parties to the trade. If, however, the acquisition is by corporate
merger instead of tender offer, and the information is obtained
from documents submitted for printing by the target corporation,
any trading by the printer on that information puts him in viola-
tion of section 10(b) and rule 10b-5 since he then has a relation-
ship with the issuer.

In the tender offer situations like Chiarella, pre-announce-
ment secrecy is essential to success.1" A premature revelation of
an impending offer will cause the price of target stock to rise to-
ward the expected tender price, resulting in rejection of the offer
because the inducement to the stockholders-the premium-is
lost. 15 4 This is an especially relevant concern in Chiarella because
his trading in the stock of the target companies represented one-
half of the total volume of daily trading in two instances.155 Of
equal concern, his trading could alert others in the investing com-
munity to an attractive acquisition and result in a competing bid.
Therefore, conduct like Chiarella's is harmful because it may frus-
trate or defeat a profitable acquisition.

Recognizing the dangers the Supreme Court's Chiarella deci-
sion creates, the SEC has responded with the promulgation of a
new rule.15" Rule 14e-3 basically forbids investors to trade in stock
on the basis of nonpublic information about a tender offer, if those
investors know or have reason to know that the information comes
from the target company or the acquiring company or the agents of

152. 100 S. Ct. at 1121.
153. See, e.g., Full Disclosure of Corporate Equity Ownership and in Corporate

Takeover Bids: Hearings on S. 510 Before the'Subcomm. on Securities of the Senate
Comm. on Banking and Currency, 90th Cong., 1st Sess. 72 (1967) (testimony of David
Calvin, Vice President of the New York Stock Exchange).

154. Id.
155. Brief, supra note 1, at 9.
156. 45 Fed. Reg. 60,418 (1980) (to be codified at 40 C.F.R. § 240.14e-3).
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either. 157

Prompt response by the SEC has closed the loophole for
fraudulent practices left by the Chiarella decision, but only in the
context of tender offers. The rationale of the Court is still effective
to foreclose application of rule 10b-5 to all other transactions by
outsider's trading on nonpublic market information who have no
fiduciary relationship to the other trader, even though the informa-
tion is misappropriated to personal use.

III. CONCLUSION

The decision by the Court in Chiarella would generally result
in making an outsider trading on material nonpublic market infor-
mation beyond the scope of the rule 10b-5 disclosure requirement.
This result was not compelled by the legislative history, or the
prior case law. Moreover, there are no policy reasons for sanction-
ing Chiarella's conduct since it served no useful purpose in the
market and operated only to unjustly enrich Chiarella at the ex-
pense of honest investors. The securities markets would be better
served, as would the language and philosophy of the antifraud pro-
visions, if the rule of Chief Justice Burger were followed, and
Chiarella were found to be in violation of section 10(b) and rule
10b-5 for failure to disclose misappropriated nonpublic informa-
tion or refrain from trading.

Karen Johnson

157. Id.
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